Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No.  07-1613 PO



)

ANTOINE GORDON,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION

There is cause to discipline Antoine Gordon for committing the criminal offenses of conspiring to distribute controlled substances and aiding and abetting the conspiracy by engaging in conduct while as a police officer to render aid to the criminal endeavor, and for engaging in conduct while on active duty that involved moral turpitude and a reckless disregard for the safety of others.
Procedure


On September 27, 2007, the Director of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint seeking to establish cause to discipline Gordon.  On December 7, 2007, we caused to be personally served upon Gordon our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint.  We held our hearing on March 6, 2008.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher R. Fehr represented the Director.  Neither Gordon nor any representative appeared.  The case became ready for our decision on March 7, 2008, when the reporter filed the transcript.
Findings of Fact


1.
At all relevant times, Gordon held a Class A peace officer license from the Director.  It is current and active.

2.
In the Spring of 2001, within the territory included in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, Gordon and 20 other persons did knowingly and willfully conspire, combine, confederate and agree with each other and other persons to distribute and possess with intent to distribute a mixture or substance containing more than one kilogram of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, and cocaine and cocaine base, also known as “crack cocaine,” both Schedule II controlled substances.  

3.
From June 10, 2004, to and including June 14, 2004, Gordon did intentionally aid and abet the conspiracy of Adrian Minnis, also known as “Bo,” and others to distribute and possess with the intent to distribute controlled substances, as set out in Finding of Fact 2, while employed as a police officer, by assisting Adrian Minnis in determining whether there was an investigation of the criminal drug-trafficking activities of Adrian Minnis and his co-conspirators, and by performing “record checks” on available law enforcement databases to determine whether individuals who attempted to and did obtain heroin from Adrian Minnis on June 10, 2004, were working as confidential sources for law enforcement officers.  In this way, Gordon did knowingly render aid to a criminal endeavor, with the natural consequence of such aid being to further criminal activity and to help it succeed.   

4.
On February 2, 2005, the United States District Attorney filed an indictment in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, charging Gordon:
a.
in Count One with conspiracy to distribute and possess with the intent to distribute heroin (in excess of one kilogram), cocaine and cocaine base, 
also known as “crack cocaine” in violation of 21 USC §§ 841(a)(a) and 846, and

b.
in Count Nine with aiding and abetting the conspiracy set forth in Count One in that, as a police officer, he rendered aid to a criminal endeavor in violation of 21 USC §§ 841(a) and 846.


5.
 On April 5, 2006, a jury found Gordon guilty as charged in Counts One and Nine of the indictment.

6.
On July 21, 2006, the District Court found Gordon guilty of the conduct set forth in Counts One and Nine and sentenced Gordon to 97 months’ imprisonment on each count, to run concurrently.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving facts for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director contends that Gordon is subject to discipline under § 590.080, which states:


1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;


(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

The Director alleges that Gordon violated 21 USC § §§ 841(a)(1) and 846.  21 USC § 841 provides:

(a) Unlawful acts
Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally--

(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance[.] 
21 USC § 846 provides:

Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense defined in this subchapter shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed for the offense, the commission of which was the object of the attempt or conspiracy.
Heroin is a Schedule I controlled substance.
  Cocaine is a Schedule II controlled substance.

The Director’s evidence that Gordon committed the criminal offenses is a copy of court records containing the indictment, verdicts, and judgment with the clerk’s certification.  Although missing the judge’s certification that § 490.130 requires, we admitted the court records into evidence because there was no objection.
  In addition, where no objection is made, we can and must consider hearsay evidence.
  We have found that Gordon committed the conduct prohibited by the federal statutes based on his conviction in the criminal case.
  Gordon is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2).


The Director argues that Gordon committed an act while on active duty that involved moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 
between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”


The evidence that Gordon was acting as a police officer when he committed the conduct at issue is in Count Nine of the indictment.  The conviction proved those facts, which we set forth in Finding of Fact 3.  While employed as a police officer and to aid in the conspiracy to possess and distribute controlled substances, Gordon performed record checks in law enforcement databases to find out whether people attempting to or obtaining heroin from Adrian Minnis were working as confidential sources for law enforcement officers.  By doing this, Gordon engaged in conduct that had the potential for defeating law enforcement agencies’ attempts to investigate criminal activity and for endangering the lives of confidential informants.  We conclude that Gordon committed acts while on active duty that involved moral turpitude and a reckless disregard for the safety of other persons.  Gordon is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(3).
Summary


Gordon is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3). 

SO ORDERED on April 25, 2008.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP     


Commissioner

�Section 590.080.2.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2007, unless otherwise noted.
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